UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-27-2015

State v. Jasper Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43145

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After Jody Jasper pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine, the district court sentenced him to fifteen years, with three years fixed. Mr. Jasper now appeals to this Court, contending the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

On November 29, 2014, law enforcement at the Bonneville County Jail found methamphetamine hidden in Mr. Jasper's bedding. (R., pp.13–22.) The State then filed a Criminal Complaint against Mr. Jasper, alleging that he committed trafficking in methamphetamine, a felony, in violation of Idaho Code § 37-2732B(a)(4)(A), and

possession of contraband within a correctional facility, a felony, in violation of Idaho Code § 18-2510(3). (R., pp.9–10.) Mr. Jasper waived a preliminary hearing, and the magistrate bound him over to district court. (R., pp.24–26.) The State filed an Information on December 16, 2014. (R., pp.32–33.)

On January 21, 2015, Mr. Jasper pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine pursuant to a plea agreement. (Tr., p.10, L.3–p.11, L.1; R., pp.39–40.) The State would dismiss the possession charge. (Tr., p.4, L.16–p.5, L.18; R., pp.27–30.) The State also agreed to recommend fifteen years, with three years fixed, and participation in the Therapeutic Community. (Tr., p.4, L.16–p.5, L.18; R., pp.27–30.) The district court accepted Mr. Jasper's guilty plea and entered an order dismissing the possession charge. (Tr., p.10, L.19–p.11, L.1; R., p.47.)

On March 16, 2015, the district court held a sentencing hearing. (R., pp.51–53.) Relevant here, the trafficking charge carries a mandatory minimum sentence of three years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum fine of \$10,000. See I.C. § 37-2732B(a)(4)(A). The State recommended fifteen years, with three years fixed, and Mr. Jasper argued for ten years, with three years fixed. (R., pp.51–52; Tr., p.16, Ls.12–16, p.16, L.20–p.17, L.2.) In line with the State's recommendation, the district court sentenced Mr. Jasper to fifteen years, with three years fixed. (R., p.52; Tr., p.26, Ls.9–13.) The district court also imposed the mandatory minimum fine. (R., p.52, Tr., p.26, Ls.14–15.) On March 19, 2015, the district court entered an Amended Judgment of Conviction. (R., pp.56–57.) In this judgment, the district court recommended that Mr. Jasper participate in the Therapeutic Community. (R., p.57.)

2

On March 26, 2015, Mr. Jasper filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.58-60.) An

amended notice of appeal was filed on June 9, 2015. (R., pp.65–67.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of fifteen years, with three years fixed, upon Mr. Jasper, following his guilty plea to trafficking in methamphetamine?

ARGUMENT

<u>The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Unified Sentence Of Fifteen</u> <u>Years, With Three Years Fixed, Upon Mr. Jasper, Following His Guilty Plea To</u> <u>Trafficking In Methamphetamine</u>

"It is well-established that '[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence." *State v. Pierce*, 150 Idaho 1, 5 (2010) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (alteration in original)). Here, the indeterminate portion of Mr. Jasper's sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. *See* I.C. § 37-2732B(a)(4)(D) (maximum sentence of life imprisonment). Accordingly, to show that the indeterminate sentence imposed was unreasonable, Mr. Jasper "must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts." *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002).

"Reasonableness' of a sentence implies that a term of confinement should be tailored to the purpose for which the sentence is imposed." *State v. Adamcik*, 152 Idaho 445, 483 (2012) (quoting *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008)).

In examining the reasonableness of a sentence, the Court conducts an independent review of the entire record available to the trial court at sentencing, focusing on the objectives of criminal punishment: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public; (3)

possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.

Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148. "A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution." *State v. Delling*, 152 Idaho 122, 132 (2011).

Mr. Jasper asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence of twelve indeterminate years under any reasonable view of the facts. Specifically, he contends that the district court should have sentenced him to a lesser indeterminate term in light of the mitigating factors, including his abusive childhood, substance abuse issues, and mental health issues.

Forty-one year old Mr. Jasper had a difficult and painful childhood. He explained, "Mother used drugs for a long time. Father beat me up all the time." (Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI"),¹ p.12.) He dropped out of school in the ninth grade. (PSI, p.12.) The "beating" from his dad "got worse," and Mr. Jasper ran away. (PSI, p.12.) He lost his job and a scholarship to attend a local college. (PSI, p.12.) He also reported that his family was "[a]lways poor." (PSI, p.12.) Consistent with Mr. Jasper's presentence investigation, the GAIN-I Recommendation and Referral Summary (GRRS) stated that Mr. Jasper "reported a history of being attacked with a weapon, being beaten, sexual abuse, [and] emotional abuse." (PSI, p.58.) He scored "in the high range of the General Victimization Scale." (PSI, p.58.)

Mr. Jasper's drug use likely served as an escape from these negative experiences as a child. As Mr. Jasper explained during the presentence investigation, "I

4

was smoking pot at age 6." (PSI, p.12.) He first used methamphetamine in ninth grade, but he quit around eleventh grade. (PSI, p.12.) Sometime thereafter he began using methamphetamine again one to two times a day intravenously. (PSI, p.15.) At age thirty, Mr. Jasper began using heroin one to two times a week as well. (PSI, p.15.) The Substance Abuse Report found that Mr. Jasper was a "drug addict." (PSI, p.44.) The GRRS determined that his symptoms met the criteria for "amphetamine dependence with physiological symptoms" and recommended Level III Residential Treatment. (PSI, p.50, 60.) His current offense highlights the severity of his drug addiction—he had forty-nine grams of methamphetamine in jail, which he claimed at one point was for his personal use. (R., p.14; Tr., p.22, Ls.18–25.) He also acknowledged, however, that he sold methamphetamine to support his addiction. (PSI, p.14.)

Even though Mr. Jasper reportedly struggled to appreciate the severity of his addiction, (See PSI, p.45), Mr. Jasper was amenable to treatment. He stated during the presentence investigation, "I'm tired of this lifestyle and I'll do whatever it takes." (PSI, p.15.) At sentencing he explained, "I know what I did was wrong . . . I don't want to make myself look any worse, but I'm an addict, and . . . that to me is a personal amount based on my usage." (Tr., p.22, Ls.20–24.) Additionally, he stated, "I need help, and I understand that." (Tr., p.23, Ls.21–22.) He also explained that he had asked for help in the past, but he has never gotten it, although this lack of treatment might have been due to factors outside his control, such as California's prison system.² (Tr., p.23, Ls.13–22; PSI, p.15.) He most recently participated in a Therapeutic Community-type program in

¹ Citations to the PSI refer to the sixty-page electronic document titled "PSI."

2000. (PSI, p.15.) He reported during the GRRS evaluation that he was "about 100% ready to remain abstinent" from substances. (PSI, p.54.) He showed "moderate motivation for treatment." (PSI, p.54.)

Based on the above information, Mr. Jasper's substance abuse issues, the impact of his substance abuse on his behavior, and his need for treatment are strong factors in mitigation. A sentencing court should give "proper consideration of the defendant's [substance abuse] problem, the part it played in causing defendant to commit the crime and the suggested alternatives for treating the problem." *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89, 91 (1982). The impact of substance abuse on the defendant's criminal conduct is "a proper consideration in mitigation of punishment upon sentencing." *State v. Osborn*, 102 Idaho 405, 414 n.5 (1981). Mr. Jasper submits that the district court abused its discretion at sentencing by failing to adequately consider his drug addiction, the effect of his addiction on his conduct, and his desire for treatment.

Further, Mr. Jasper's mental health issues stand in favor of a lesser indeterminate sentence. The PSI noted that Mr. Jasper "expressed the desire to speak with a counselor" and reported "having some paranoia." (PSI, p.14.) The Mental Health Review of the GRRS found that Mr. Jasper "reported experiencing symptoms and scored in the moderate range of the Internal Mental Distress and Behavior Complexity Scale." (PSI, p.21.) The Mental Health Review also recognized Mr. Jasper's "history of physical, sexual, and emotional abuse." (PSI, p.21.) The Mental Health Review did not recommend an additional mental health evaluation, but it did recommend counseling "to

² Mr. Jasper was released from the California prison system in August of 2014. (PSI, pp.11, 12.) He is from California. (PSI, p.12.) The instant offenses occurred after Mr. Jasper was arrested while driving through Idaho on his way to Montana. (PSI, p.12.)

treat his reported symptoms and address history of abuse, gain knowledge on appropriate coping mechanisms, and receive help with identifying triggers or areas that agitate mental health problems" and treatment, including "a component to address any correlation between [his] symptoms and substance use." (PSI, p.21.) In light of his mental health issues, as well as the other mitigating circumstances, Mr. Jasper contends that the district abused its discretion by imposing an indeterminate sentence of twelve years.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Jasper respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.