11-24-2015

State v. Jasper Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43145

Issue

Has Jasper failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a unified sentence of 15 years, with three years fixed, upon his guilty plea to trafficking in methamphetamine?

Jasper Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

Jasper pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine and the district court imposed a unified sentence of 15 years, with three years fixed. (R., pp.49-52.) Jasper filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.53-56.)

Jasper asserts the indeterminate portion of his sentence is excessive “in light of the mitigating factors, including his abusive childhood, substance abuse issues, and mental health issues.” (Appellant’s brief, p.4.) The record supports the sentence imposed.

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant’s entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant’s probable term of confinement. Id. (citing State v. Trevino, 132 Idaho 888, 980 P.2d 552 (1999)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)). To carry this burden the appellant must show that the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Baker, 136 Idaho at 577, 38 P.3d at 615. A sentence is reasonable, however, if it appears necessary to achieve the primary objective of protecting society or any of the related sentencing goals of deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution. Id.

The maximum prison sentence for trafficking methamphetamine is life in prison. I.C. § 37-2732B(4)(D). The district court imposed a unified sentence of 15 years, with three years fixed, which falls well within the statutory guidelines. (R., pp.49-52.) At sentencing, the state addressed Jasper’s lengthy criminal record which included 11 prior felony convictions, the facts surrounding the charges in this matter, his past failures on both probation and parole, and his failure to be rehabilitated or deterred.

(Tr., p.16, L.19 – p.21, L.16 (Appendix A).) The district court subsequently articulated the correct legal standards applicable to its decision and set forth in detail its reasons for imposing Jasper’s sentence. (Tr., p.24, L.6 – p.28, L.10 (Appendix B).) The state submits that Jasper has failed to establish an abuse of discretion, for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpts of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal. (Appendices A and B.)

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm Jasper’s conviction and sentence.